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Members of City Council and
Citizens of Delaware, Ohio

Ohio Revised Code requires that each public office be audited at least every two fiscal years, except under U.S.
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement, Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance), which may require, or has elected to have, an audit every fiscal year. The City of Delaware [the City]
meets the requirements for an annual audit and this report is published to satisfy that requirement for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

Responsibility for the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all
disclosures, rests with City management and is based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that
they have established for this purpose. These controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance regarding the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and the
reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability for assets. The
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that [1] the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely
to be derived from its implementation and [2] the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and
judgments by management. We believe the data as presented is accurate in all material respects and that it is
presented in a manner designed to set forth fairly the financial position and results of operations of the City as
measured by the financial activity of its various funds. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an
understanding of the City’s financial activities have been included.

In accordance with Ohio law, an independent audit is required to be performed on all financial operations of the
City. Either the Auditor of State of Ohio, or, if the Auditor permits, an independent public accounting firm
conducts the audits. For 2023, Wilson, Shannon, and Snow, Inc. performed these services. Their report is
presented in the front of the Financial Section.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis [MD&A] immediately follows the independent auditors’ report and
provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. This letter of
transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.

Reporting Entity

The City has reviewed its reporting entity definition in order to ensure compliance and conformance with the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 14, “The Financial Reporting Entity,” as amended
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City of Delaware, Ohio

by GASB Statement No. 39, “Determining Whether Certain Organizations are Component Units” and GASB
Statement No.61, “The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus”. For financial reporting definition purposes, City
management considered all agencies, departments, and organizations comprising the City of Delaware, the
primary government, and its potential component units. Areas of consideration include financial accountability,
ability to impose its will, financial benefit, and financial burden. The City has no component units.

The City of Delaware

The City is the seat of Delaware County, 25 miles north of downtown Columbus, the Ohio state capital. Delaware
is an independent, full service city that has retained its small town qualities while adapting to recent high levels
of growth and development. Delaware County is the fastest growing county in Ohio, identified as one of the
100 fastest growing, wealthiest and most educated areas of the country. Housing in Delaware is available in
older, tree-lined neighborhoods, newer modern subdivisions, condominium developments and rental
complexes. The population of Delaware increased by about 40 percent between 2000 and 2010, going from just
over 25,000 residents to over 35,000. Delaware’s estimated population crested 45,000 in 2023.

The region was originally occupied by the Delaware Indians who shared the territory between Columbus and
Lake Erie with the Mingos and other tribes. Prehistoric Hopewell Mound Builders inhabited this area even
earlier. Delaware was a country village in an agricultural region in 1808. Following the War of 1812, settlers
arrived at a faster pace, including the parents of Rutherford B. Hayes, 19" President of the United States, who
was born in Delaware in 1822. He met his future wife at Ohio Wesleyan University in Delaware.

Prior to the Civil War, Delaware had Northern sympathies and brought the underground railway through the
area. The local Africa Road owes its name to this era. During and following the War, railroads played an
important role in expanding the markets of Delaware. By 1900, Delaware had its own electric street railway and
an electric interurban rail line connecting the community with Columbus and Marion.

In the modern era, farming has declined steadily throughout Delaware County as residential and industrial
development has flourished. The proximity to Columbus, as well as historic periods of growth and prosperity,
has greatly influenced the economy of Delaware. Its history, however, is carefully preserved in its many 19"
century buildings and homes, its comfortable scale and architecture, and the pace of life as a home town.

The City covers almost 20 square miles. The City of Delaware provides municipal and general administrative
services under the supervision of the City Manager for police protection, fire and emergency medical services,
water, sewer, storm sewer, and refuse utility services, road maintenance and improvement, a wide array of
parks and recreational facilities and services, and other support services. The City also maintains a county-wide
municipal court under the elected offices of 2 Judges and a Clerk of Court.

City Government

Delaware was founded in 1808 and incorporated in 1816. The City is a Charter Municipal Corporation
established and operated under the laws of the State of Ohio. The Charter was first adopted November 6, 1951,
and established the Council/Manager form of government. Delaware City Council consists of seven elected
members. Three City Council positions are elected at-large; the other four positions are elected from the four
wards of the City. The regular term of every member of Council is four years. Elections of members of Council
are staggered such that every other year either the three at-large positions are elected or the four ward positions
are elected. Atthe conclusion of each bi-annual election, one of the three at-large members of Council is elected
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Mayor by vote of all seven members of Council to serve a two-year term. The Mayor presides at meetings of
Council and is recognized as the official head of the City for all ceremonial purposes, military purposes, and for
servicing civil process.

The members of Council are the legislative authority of the City. Council enacts ordinances and resolutions
relative to City services, tax levies, appropriating and borrowing money, licensing, and regulating businesses and
trades, and other various municipal purposes.

The City Manager is the City’s chief executive officer and is appointed by Council. It is the duty of the City
Manager to act as chief conservator of the peace within the City; to supervise the administration of the affairs
of the City; and to see that the ordinances of the City and the laws of the State are enforced. The City Manager
supervises the administration of all departments and appoints the various department heads and other City
employees. He also executes all contracts, conveyances, and evidences of indebtedness of the City.

City administrative departments operating under the supervision of the City Manager include: Police, Fire,
Finance, City Attorney, Planning and Community Development, Public Works and Engineering, Parks and
Recreation, and Public Utilities.

Economic Conditions and Outlook

The year of 2023 proved to be another year of strong growth for the City of Delaware’s local economy. As the
ripple effects of COVID-19 continued to wane, the City saw new levels of investment and opportunity throughout
various sectors.

While continuing to serve all city businesses, by the end of the year City staff had directly served 110 businesses
with programs and resources to help them with various challenges and opportunities, including continuing
operations, access to incentive programs, partnerships with local and state resource partners, and pivoting their
businesses to continue to succeed. The City continued its retention & expansion outreach efforts to businesses,
focusing on project initiatives that included company expansions and offering assistance that resulted in
job/investment creation. The City also saw the completion of several new speculative buildings within the
Southeast industrial corridor, showcasing the strong desire by developers to choose the City of Delaware as a
prime market for investment and growth.

With all of these efforts, the City helped to helped to create 719 full-time equivalent jobs and $37.89 million in
new payroll.

Major Initiatives

Police: The Delaware Police Department initiated several changes to the department’s hiring process in 2023 to
address the ongoing public safety recruitment challenges. Most notable, the department now has a continuous
hiring cycle with candidates added to the civil service list each month. A comprehensive organizational review,
conducted by an outside firm, was completed in 2023. The final report provided multiple recommendations to
improve the department’s effectiveness and ability to service a growing city. Several recommendations will have
2024 operating budget implications. With the delivery of (5) additional body worn camera units; the entire sworn
staff is now equipped with this equipment. Two smaller, unmanned aerial vehicles were obtained for indoor
tactical use. The department’s shotguns after twenty-five years in service were replaced with modern units. The
2023 operating budget allowed for the replacement of personal protective equipment issued to individual
officers, obtained in the early 2000’s, to be replaced. A second speed-feedback trailer was obtained and placed
into service to aid the department’s response to speeding concerns. To facilitate safety, for large public events
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on city streets, the department invested in additional Meridian barricades designed to prevent vehicular traffic
in pedestrian areas.

Fire-EMS: In late 2021, the City made an offer to purchase property and an existing building for a fire station
and new fire department headquarters. This station will serve the east side. The purchase was approved at the
December 13", 2021, City Council meeting and finalized in early 2022. In 2023, interior design and site
improvements were started with remodeling slated for mid-year 2024. In January of 2022 a replacement fire
engine was ordered from Sutphen Fire Apparatus, this truck was delivered in February of 2023. Two paramedic
units were ordered with a projected delivery date of the 4th quarter 2024. Fire Chief John Donahue left January
15%, 2023, to pursue another position after 16 years and the new fire chief was appointed in May of 2023. Ten
new firefighters were hired during 2023, however only one was an additional position, as the other nine
firefighters filled positions which were currently vacated. In December of 2023 two new assistant chiefs were
promoted to help fill the management needs of the department.

Public Utilities: In 2023, the Public Utilities Department continued on the long term buildout plan of the City’s
Southwest industrial area with the final extension of watermain along Sawmill Pkwy and design of water and
sewer extensions to happen along US-42 Southward. Additional projects completed included 13 hydrant repairs,
6 water main repairs, replacement of 143 water meters, 39 meter pit installations, and 2,423 feet of watermain
replacement. Sewer collection projects included 80,543 feet of CCTV inspection, clearing of 8 main blockages,
24 preventive maintenance main cleanings, 1 invasive roots cutting/clearings, 15 lift station cleanings, and 52
lift station inspections. Stormwater collections activities included 26 catch basin cleanings, 1,873 feet of CCTV
inspection, 2 blockage removals, 9 main line repairs, and 40 feet of main line replaced. The stormwater division
worked to maintain public interest and involvement by rehosting the Olentangy River Festival in person with
good public turnout.

Public Works: At the Airport, FAA grant funds have been secured for constructing the expansion of the main
Apron A in 2024 to accommodate the notable increase in jet traffic. Additional funding has been secured
through the State of Ohio for the replacement of the aging automated weather observations system (AWQS),
also scheduled for 2024. The final phase of Sawmill Parkway west of Founders Court to Section Line Rd. is under
construction with completion anticipated in July of 2024. This project opens access to an additional acreage of
committed business park development. The City continues to work on several transportation initiatives
utilizing State and Federal grants including the Point Intersection Railway Bridge Replacement project with
construction activity commencing continuing through late 2025. The next phase of Merrick Parkway from
Cambridge Drive to Troy Road is advancing to design in in 2024 with construction anticipated in 2025. Design
work for the East Central Avenue Pavement Rehabilitation project will also commence in 2024. The City
received a $200,000 EPA grant for the purchase of 3,500 64-gallon wheeled recycling tipcarts for distribution
throughout the community to bolster recycling participation.

Recreation: The Parks and Natural Resource Department includes Urban Forestry, Hidden Valley Golf Course,
Building Maintenance and Oak Grove Cemetery. The Parks and Natural Resource department has completed
new play equipment at Mingo Park and Cheshire Park. The Jack Florance Pool has mechanical upgrades and pool
furniture. Recreation has continued to grow in participation and programs adding day camps in 2022. The Oak
Grove Cemetery has continued implementing the master plan with Liberty Road entrance improvements,
signage upgrades, and interment expansion. The Hidden Valley Golf Course has upgraded greens mowers, utility
cart, fairway improvements and improved ADA access. The course saw an increase in play in 2022 and updated
to an online tee time program that will improve efficiency. Building Maintenance renovated the elevator in City
Hall and will continue building audits in 2023. The Urban Forestry department has upgraded software to track
tree inventory. Additional staff in 2023 will help to increase tree maintenance and upkeep.
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Planning & Community Development: New home building, including single and multi-family homes, condos, and
apartments, increased over 33% from 2022 in number built [permits to build] to a total of 607. Single-family
residential building permits totaled 451 for 2022 and 429 in 2023. These 429 permits totaled $155.1 million in
reported construction value down from $182.1 million in 2022. Apartment unit construction saw the largest
increase from 4 units in 2022 to 178 new units in 2023 and nearly $23 million in reported construction value, up
from $321,000 in 2022. Commercial permits increased from 226 in 2022 to 270 in 2023. The reported
construction value of these commercial permits also increased, from $80 million in 2022 to over $200 million in
2023.

Economic Development:

Industry — In early 2024, the Tax Incentive Review Council (TIRC) reported to Council and the Ohio Department
of Development the status of the 15 active City tax incentive agreements. These agreements have created 467
jobs with $36,887,366.56 in payroll.

In 2022 and 2023, the Economic Development team worked with various developers to create new industrial
speculative buildings in the southeast areas of the community. This included development of four buildings at
the new “Sawmill Pointe Business Park”, two of those buildings serving as expansions for the company “Inno-
Pak” and the remaining two as speculative buildings. Four new speculative buildings were also completed along
Pittsburgh Drive and has been accepting new tenants upon it’s completion.

The City also continued to see increased interest in retail and restaurant. The east side of the City along 36/37
continues to see new restaurant/retail chains opening new locations. The department still believes that due to
the continuous growth in population, the interest by these industry-focused companies will continue to grow
and be supported by the local population.

In 2023, the City continued to work with RiverWest Partners to finalize incentives for the first catalytic project
along the Riverfront District’s riverfront. This project should continue to encourage renewed investment into
this east side neighborhood.

Information Technology:

The City of Delaware Information Technology Department’s mission is to provide leadership, strategic vision,
and oversight to ensure the responsible stewardship of resources for the effective, efficient, and economical
delivery of City services for today and into the future.

The Department provides secure, reliable, and current systems to City of Delaware employees through a shared
approach that promotes partnership and collaboration. Information Technology Department Services can be
classified into eight major areas: Help Desk Support; Professional Services and Project Management; Server and
Network Hardware Support and Maintenance; Application Software Support and Maintenance; Telephone and
Communications; Geographic Information Systems; and Administrative Services.

We have stayed true to our Strategic Plan by focusing on People and Culture, Governance, Infrastructure,
Solutions and Customer Service and Cybersecurity throughout the year and have kept our staff at 7 full time
employees while creating a new position IT Manager/Security Officer. Using that plan, we continue to support
the transition to a hybrid work environment and employees continue to do a great job adapting to technology
they hadn't used before. We continue our multiyear implementation of new SaaS solutions including an
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software that enhances how City employees interact with software along
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with their business processes. The new system connects core functions throughout the city and enables
information to flow seamlessly between departments.

Business Incentives and Creating Development

The City of Delaware allows tax incentives offers tax incentives meeting the requirements set forth under GASB
Statement No. 77 primarily through Enterprise Zone tax abatements (EZA) and Community Reinvestment Areas
(CRA). The EZA program has not been utilized in many years as its function is now limited to benefit businesses
from abatement of real estate taxes. The City’s CRA program benefits business from the abatement of real
estate taxes and effects public tax dollars.

All City business incentives start the above abatement processes with an application process from the business
declaring their commitments of building improvements and/or job creation by moving their business into the
City. Thereby, the business will improve an existing building or constructing a new building(s) to accommodate
their new increased manufacturing, professional or retail establishment’s personnel and equipment. The City,
after reviewing the applications, will accept, amend, or deny the business request based upon the criteria
(minimum return on investment criteria) as stated in the notes to the financial statements. Thus, a complete
cost/benefit analysis is performed by the administration before making a decision on the businesses incentive
request. The City makes public any decision to allow any incentives through an ordinance approved by City
Council. When an agreement requires the City to have a Delaware City School District (DCSD) tax sharing
agreement under section 5709.82 of the Ohio Revised Code, the City will enter into an agreement with the DCSD.

The Delaware County Appraisal Department under the County Fiscal Officer, assigns taxable values to new or
improved commercial property improvements. This new or improvement valuation is used in conjunction with
a contract between the City and the business to establish the dollar amount of abated valuation associated with
the new construction and/or improvements.

Monitoring Incentives: The City of Delaware is required by statute, to file online annually, by March 31st, all
abatement information with the State of Ohio. This applies to each individual abatement contract and overall
statistics of the CRA program related to the abatements granted. Information such as number of jobs created,
retained employment, the amount of payroll related to increased jobs, real estate improvement dollars invested,
income tax dollars generated from each and overall contracts.

The City is required to submit to a review of all CRA and EZA Contract agreements with the Tax Incentive Review
Council (TIRC) annually in August. The TIRC is organized by Section 5709.85 (A) (1) of the Ohio Revised Code.
consisting of 7 members: one legislative appointee, one County Auditor (Fiscal Officer) appointee, one member
of the Board of Education, the Chief Financial Officer of the City, and two - ix - members of the public appointed
by the City Manager with concurrence of the legislative authority (City Council), with at least four members being
residents of the City. The TIRC reviews the State of Ohio CRA/EZA forms of each corresponding business incentive
and votes to continue, request modification of the current agreement, decide that the business is non-compliant
with their contract requirements, or if appropriate, let the incentives expire.

The TIRC presents its recommendations to the City of Delaware Council at a public meeting and, by resolution,
can accept, modify or reject the recommendations of the TIRC. City Council reserves the right to terminate
abatements and incentives when businesses are not in compliance. City Council’s Goals and strategic plan as
they review/and or approve these incentives and recommendations are to maintain the City of Delaware’s
competitiveness as a site for location of new businesses and the expansion of existing businesses, create and
retain jobs, and increase real estate values, for tax purposes. The economic effect of these incentives are

-Xi -
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immediate when increasing jobs as municipal income taxes increase, however, for the most part the positive
economic effects from collection of real estate taxes, will be in the future.

Significant 2023 City of Delaware Business Highlights

The Downtown Delaware district continues to be a major highlight of the City’s economic success, boasting a
first-floor occupancy rate of 95%. The downtown has seen an increase in a diverse array of eateries that
showcase the inclusiveness that Delaware continues to thrive for. This increased interest by both entrepreneurs
and visitors continues to show the popularity of the food and beverage destination that is Downtown Delaware.

Ohio Wesleyan University continues to be a major anchor for the downtown. This advantageous location offers
cultural and educational opportunities for students, businesses, and the community. With new leadership at the
helm, this creates new and exciting opportunities for further collaboration between Ohio Wesleyan and the City.

The City of Delaware continues to maintain an active Main Street program. Main Street Delaware implements
key events in the downtown such as First Friday, Main Street Delaware Farmers' Market, Planter Programs,
sidewalk cleaning, Christmas decorations, Santa House, Carriage Rides, Chocolate Walk, March for Art, Artful
Spaces, Public Art, Design Awards, 12 Days of Christmas and more. The U.S. Department of Interior certified
Delaware as a Certified Local Government and Delaware has been named “Best Hometown” by Ohio Magazine.
The City was also one of the nation’s first eight Preserve America Communities, as selected by the White House.

The following table shows comparative average monthly employment and unemployment statistics for the indicated
periods.

Employed in Unemployment Rate
Year County County State U.S.
2013 98,700 5.2 6.2 6.8
2014 99,500 3.2 4.7 5.6
2015 101,490 3.5 4.8 5.0
2016 100,500 3.4 4.9 4.7
2017 106,877 2.9 4.7 4.9
2018 108,245 3.4 4.6 3.9
2019 110,397 2.8 3.8 3.5
2020 101,375 3.6 5.5 6.7
2021 111,300 3.1 4.8 4.2
2022 112,350 2.4 4.1 3.5
2023 112,600 33 3.6 3.7

Source: Ohio Job and Family Services, US Census Bureau.

- Xii -
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The following employers (private and public) have some of the largest work forces within the City:

Approximate

Nature of Activity Number of

Employer or Business Employees
Ohio Health-Grady Hospital Medical services 1,500
Delaware County County government 1,422
Delaware City School District Education 800
The Kroger Company Grocery & retail 667
Ohio Wesleyan University Education 576
Attindas [formerly Domtar] Disposable diaper manufacturer 450
Advance Auto Automotive parts distribution 406
PPG Industries OH Aftermarket auto finishes 400
Vertiv High voltage UPS systems 347
City of Delaware Municipal government 343

Financial Information

The City of Delaware’s accounting system is organized on a “Fund Basis”. Each fund is a distinct, self-balancing
account.

Development of the City’s accounting system includes consideration of internal accounting controls. These
controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding the safeguarding of assets
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and the reliability of financial records for preparing financial
statements and maintaining accountability for assets. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that [1]
the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived from its implementation and [2] the
valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

The City adopts its annual appropriation ordinance on or before January 1 of each year. The City Manager and
the Finance Director prepare the budget legislation and submit it to City Council for their consideration and
approval. All disbursements require appropriation authority. The legal level of budgetary control is at the payroll
expenditures/expenses and other expenditures/expenses. For reporting purposes, the City further divides
“other” by their function.

The Finance Director is authorized to transfer appropriations between line items, within a department or fund.
Any increase in the total appropriations for a department must be approved by City Council. A purchase order
is required before making any purchase over $250.

Financial Policies

The City's budget is not a static document. It is prepared prior to the beginning of the year it represents;
however, it is scrutinized by staff at least on a monthly basis for accountability. The City may budget to receive
a certain amount of revenue in an account or fund, to be used for certain operations or capital improvements.
However, if those revenues are not received in their entirety or at all, those appropriations are not necessarily
deemed allowable expenditures. The Finance Director, City Manager, and Departmental Directors, review the
budget to determine what operations or projects may be postponed, dismissed entirely, or done sooner,
depending on the circumstances. In times when the economy is slow, and fee collections are decreased, this
scrutinizing plays a major role in maintaining a positive budget balance.

- Xiii -
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In April 2021, Moody’s Investors Service issued a Aa2 rating for the City’s General Obligation Bond Issue, Series
2019. This rating was maintained with the City’s previous Aa2 bond rating. In issuing their credit opinion,
Moody’s indicated “The Aa2 rating reflects the City’s expanding population and economy near the City of
Columbus (Aaa stable) which have fueled income tax growth and supporting strong financial operations. The
rating also incorporates the city’s prudent fiscal management, very strong reserves and above average debt and
pension burdens.”

Certificate of Achievement

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada [GFOA] awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Delaware for its Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report for the year ended December 31, 2022. This is the twenty-first consecutive award the City has received
for its annual report. The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance
with the highest standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and
efficiently organized annual report, whose contents conform to program standards. Such a report must satisfy
both generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and applicable legal requirements.
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. The City of Delaware Finance Department
believes this current report continues to conform to the program’s requirements, and it will be submitted to
GFOA for review.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the many departments that assisted in providing information reported in this annual report,
as well as the Delaware County Auditor’s Office. | would also like to recognize City Council for their continued
support and commitment to responsible financial reporting.

| am pleased to present this report to the residents and taxpayers of the City of Delaware.

Sincerely,

Robert L. Alger
Finance Director
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WILSON, SHAIANNCNON & SNOW

CPAs & ADVISORS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

City of Delaware
Delaware County

One South Sandusky Street
Delaware, Ohio 43015

To the City Council:
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Delaware, Delaware County, Ohio
(the City), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Delaware, Delaware County, Ohio
as of December 31, 2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof and the respective budgetary comparisons for the General and Fire/EMS Income Tax funds for the
year then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City, and to meet our other ethical
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

1
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
e exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e cvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

e conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period
of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters
that we identified during the audit.

We did not subject the introductory section and statistical section information to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion or any other
assurance on them.
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Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, and schedules of net pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities/assets
and pension and other post-employment benefit contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial
statements and schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial statements.

Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor
fund financial statements and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic
financial statements as a whole.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual financial report. The other
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the
other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information
exists, we are required to describe it in our report.
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 21, 2024,
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City's internal control
over financial reporting and compliance.

LQI\?\M, S\anv-w .i SM-N' S'-b-

Newark, Ohio
June 21, 2024



CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

The management’s discussion and analysis of the City of Delaware’s (the “City”) financial performance provides an
overall review of the City’s financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2023. The intent of this discussion
and analysis is to look at the City’s financial performance as a whole; readers should also review the basic financial
statements and the notes to the basic financial statements to enhance their understanding of the City’s financial
performance.

Financial Highlights

Key financial highlights for 2023 are as follows:

>

The total net position of the City increased $26.6 million. Net position of governmental activities increased $19.2
million or 14.44% from 2022’s net position and net position of business-type activities increased $7.4 million or
4.67% from 2022’s net position.

General revenues accounted for $53.5 million or 64.82% of total governmental activities revenue. Program
specific revenues accounted for $29.0 million or 35.18% of total governmental activities revenue.

The City had $63.3 million in expenses related to governmental activities; $29.0 million of these expenses were
offset by program specific charges for services and sales, grants or contributions. The remaining expenses of the
governmental activities of $34.3 million were offset by general revenues (primarily property taxes, income taxes
and unrestricted grants and entitlements) of $53.5 million.

The General Fund had revenues and other financing sources of $35.3 million in 2023. This represents an increase
of $8.4 million from 2022. The expenditures and other financing uses of the general fund, which totaled $29.7
million in 2023, increased $2.8 million from 2022. The net increase in fund balance for the general fund was
$5.6 million or 41.56% compared with the 2022 balance.

The Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund had revenues and other financing sources of $16.9 million in 2023. This
represents an increase of $1.9 million from 2022 revenues. The expenditures of the Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund,
which totaled $15.0 million in 2023, decreased $2.1 million from 2022. The net increase in fund balance for the
Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund was $1.9 million or 18.08%.

The Capital Improvement Fund had revenues and other financing sources of $3.7 million in 2023. The
expenditures and other financing uses of the Capital Improvement Fund totaled $3.6 million in 2023. The net
increase in the fund balance for the Capital Improvement Fund was $67 thousand or 2.24%.

The Point Project Fund had revenues of $2.5 million in 2023. The expenditures of the Point Project Fund totaled
$7.6 million in 2023. The net decrease in the fund balance for the Point Project Fund was $5.08 million or
1,106.75%.

Net position for the business-type activities, which are made up of the Water, Wastewater, Stormwater, Refuse,
Parking Lot, and Golf Course enterprise funds, increased in 2023 by $7.4 million.

In the General Fund, the actual revenues and other financing sources came in $613 thousand more than they were
in the final and original budget. Budgeted expenditures and other financing uses increased $2.8 million from the
original to the final budget. Budgeted expenditures and other financing uses decreased $4.7 million from the final
to the actual budget.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Using this Annual Financial Report

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to these statements. These statements are
organized so the reader can understand the City as a financial whole, an entire operating entity. The statements then
proceed to provide an increasingly detailed look at specific financial activities.

The statement of net position and statement of activities provide information about the activities of the City as a whole,
presenting both an aggregate view of the City’s finances and a longer-term view of those finances. Fund financial
statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these statements tell how services were financed
in the short-term as well as what remains for future spending. The fund financial statements also look at the City’s
most significant funds with all other non-major funds presented in total in one column.

Reporting the City as a Whole
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

While this document contains a large number of funds used by the City to provide programs and activities, the view
of the City as a whole looks at all financial transactions and asks the question, “How did we do financially during
2023?” The statement of net position and the statement of activities answer this question. These statements include
all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, revenues and expenses using the
accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies. This basis of accounting
will take into account all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the City’s net position and changes in net position. This change in net position is
important because it tells the reader that, for the City as a whole, the financial position of the City has improved or
diminished. The causes of this change may be the result of many factors, some financial, some not. Non-financial
factors include the City’s property tax base, current property tax laws in Ohio restricting revenue growth, facility
conditions, required community programs and other factors.

In the statement of net position and the statement of activities, the City is divided into two distinct kinds of activities:

Governmental activities - Most of the City’s programs and services are reported here including police, fire, street
department, capital improvements and general administration. These services are funded primarily by property and
income taxes and intergovernmental revenues including federal and state grants and other shared revenues.

Business-type activities - These services are provided on a charge for goods or services basis to recover all or a
significant portion of the expenses of the goods or services provided. The City’s water, sewer, stormwater, refuse,
parking and golf operations are reported here.

The City’s statement of net position and statement of activities can be found on pages 21 - 23 of this report.
Reporting the City’s Most Significant Funds

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for
specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Fund financial reports provide detailed information about the City’s major funds. The City uses many funds to account

for a multitude of financial transactions. However, these fund financial statements focus on the City’s most significant
funds. The analysis of the City’s major governmental and proprietary funds begins on page 14.



CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental
fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of
spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of the governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, the readers may better understand
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet
and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation
to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains a multitude of individual governmental funds. The City has segregated these funds into major
funds and nonmajor funds. The City’s major governmental funds are the General Fund, Fire/EMS Income Tax fund,
Point Project Fund, and Capital Improvement Fund. Information for major funds is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.

Proprietary Funds

Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide
financial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for its water, wastewater, stormwater, parking lots,
refuse, and golf course management functions. City’s enterprise funds considered to be major funds include the Water
Fund, Wastewater Fund, Refuse Fund and Storm Water Fund. Internal service funds are an accounting device used
to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various functions. The City reports a Self-Insurance
Fund, Worker’s Compensation Fund, Garage Rotary Fund, and Information Technologies Rotary Fund.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the City. Fiduciary funds are
not reflected in the government-wide financial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to
support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required

supplementary information concerning the City’s net pension and OPEB liabilities/assets, along with contributions to
the pension systems.
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Government-Wide Financial Analysis

The statement of net position provides the perspective of the City as a whole. The City’s capital assets and long-term
obligations were restated in 2022 for the implementation of GASB Statement 96, subscription-based information
technology agreements. The table below provides a summary of the City’s net position for 2023 compared to 2022.

Table 1
Net Position
December 31, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands*)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Assets
Current and Other Assets $ 101,157 $ 90,666 $ 40,856 $ 45,391 $ 142,013 $ 136,057
Capital Assets, Net 159,409 148,168 172,331 164,633 331,740 312,801
Total Assets 260,566 238,834 213,187 210,024 473,753 448,858
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension 22,529 13,857 2,646 1,058 25,175 14,915
OPEB 3,540 2,876 407 39 3,947 2,915
Other 128 170 172 183 300 353
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 26,197 16,903 3,225 1,280 29,422 18,183
Liabilities
Current and Other Liabilities 20,028 17,083 1,304 1,712 21,332 18,795
Long-term Liabilities
Due Within One Year 6,323 5,526 3,828 3,663 10,151 9,189
Due in More than One Year:

Net Pension Liability 61,721 34,245 6,062 1,868 67,783 36,113

Net OPEB Liability 3,620 4,994 131 - 3,751 4,994

Other Amounts 33,447 38,041 39,779 43,211 73,226 81,252
Total Liabilities 125,139 99,889 51,104 50,454 176,243 150,343
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes 3,690 2,481 - - 3,690 2,481
Pension 2,384 16,507 131 2,362 2,515 18,869
OPEB 3,480 3,953 47 720 3,527 4,673
Other 106 119 - - 106 119
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 9,660 23,060 178 3,082 9,838 26,142
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 117,898 110,328 129,718 118,687 247,616 229,015
Restricted 28,960 25,204 82 - 29,042 25,204
Unrestricted (deficit) 5,105 (2,744) 35,331 39,080 40,436 36,336
Total Net Position $ 151,963 § 132,788 _§ 165,131 $§ 157,767 _$§ 317,094 _$§ 290,555

The net pension liability/asset is reported pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
68, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an Amendment of GASB Statement 27.” The net other
postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability is reported pursuant to GASB Statement 75, “Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.” For reasons discussed below, many end users of this
financial statement will gain a clearer understanding of the City’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows
related to pension and OPEB, the net pension liability, and the net OPEB liability to the reported net position and
subtracting deferred outflows related to pension and OPEB and the net pension asset.
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial reports
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Prior accounting for pensions (GASB 27) and
postemployment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a funding approach. This approach limited pension and OPEB costs
to contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pension
liability/asset or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB 75 take an earnings approach to pension and OPEB
accounting; however, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OPEB plans and state law governing those systems
requires additional explanation in order to properly understand the information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension liability/asset and the net OPEB liability/asset to equal the City’s
proportionate share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’ past
service.
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits.

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment exchange”
— that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the promise of a future pension
and other postemployment benefits. GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this promise is a present obligation of
the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should accordingly be reported by the government
as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange. However, the City is not responsible for certain key
factors affecting the balance of these liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the obligation of funding pension
benefits with the employer. Both employer and employee contribution rates are capped by State statute. A change in
these caps requires action of both Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor. Benefit provisions
are also determined by State statute. The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not require, the retirement systems to
provide healthcare to eligible benefit recipients. The retirement systems may allocate a portion of the employer
contributions to provide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise is limited not by
contract but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there is a specific, legal limit to its
contribution to the retirement system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfunded liability of the
pension/OPEB plan as against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of the
public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the employment exchange with notice as to the law. The
retirement system is responsible for the administration of the pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e. sick and vacation
leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There is no repayment schedule for the net pension
liability or the net OPEB liability. As explained above, changes in benefits, contribution rates, and return on
investments affect the balance of these liabilities but are outside the control of the local government. In the event that
contributions, investment returns, and other changes are insufficient to keep up with required payments, State statute
does not assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique nature of how the net
pension liability and the net OPEB liability/asset are satisfied, these liabilities are separately identified within the long-
term liability section of the statement of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the City’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of accounting include
an annual pension expense and an annual OPEB expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s change in net
pension liability/asset and net OPEB liability/asset, respectively, not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows.

Over time, net position can serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. At December 31, 2023,
the City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $317
million. At year-end, net position was $151.9 million and $165 million for the governmental activities and the
business-type activities, respectively.
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The increase in net pension liability and deferred outflow of resources related to pension and decrease in deferred
inflows of resources were the result of changes at the pension system level for Ohio Public Employees Retirement
System (OPERS) and the Ohio Police and Fire (OP&F) Pension Fund. Primarily, net investment income on
investments at the pension systems were negative for the 2022 measurement date that are used for the 2023
reporting. This caused a large decrease in their respective fiduciary net positions which was a drastic change from the
previous year’s large positive investment returns.

Capital assets reported on the government-wide statements represent the largest portion of the City’s net position. At
year-end, capital assets net represented 70.02% of total assets. Total capital assets include land, construction in
progress, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure. The City’s net investment in
capital assets at December 31, 2023, was $117.9 million and $129.7 million in the governmental activities and
business-type activities, respectively. These capital assets are used to provide services to citizens and are not available
for future spending.

Of the City’s net position in governmental activities, $28.9 million represents resources that are subject to external
restriction on how they may be used. In governmental activities, the remaining balance of unrestricted net position is
$5.11 million.

Intentionally left blank
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The table below shows the changes in net position for years 2023 and 2022.

Change in Net Position

Table 2
Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)*
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

Revenues 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Program Revenues:

Charges for Services and Sales $ 13,297 $ 11,014 $ 27,756 $ 26,162 $ 41,053 $ 37,176

Operating Grants and Contributions 7,488 4,884 - - 7,488 4,884

Capital Grants and Contributions 8,240 12,311 4,619 10,265 12,859 22,576
Total Program Revenues 29,025 28,209 32,375 36,427 61,400 64,636
General Revenues:
Property Taxes 2,563 2,479 - - 2,563 2,479
Income Taxes 42,265 38,352 - - 42,265 38,352
Other Taxes 682 90 - - 682 90
Grants and Other Contributions not

Restricted to Specific Programs 1,594 1,447 - - 1,594 1,447
Payments in Lieu of Taxes 2,730 2,055 - - 2,730 2,055
Interest Income 1,660 248 1,017 248 2,677 496
Change in Fair Value of Investments 1,627 (2,246) - - 1,627 (2,246)
Miscellaneous 349 272 77 67 426 339
Total General Revenues 53,470 42,697 1,094 315 54,564 43,012
Total Revenues 82,495 70,906 33,469 36,742 115,964 107,648
Expenses
General Government 9,147 7,106 - - 9,147 7,106
Public Safety 31,328 25,661 - - 31,328 25,661
Municipal Court 4,662 3,529 - - 4,662 3,529
Parks & Facilities 5,219 3,565 - - 5,219 3,565
Community Development 1,020 1,035 - - 1,020 1,035
Airport 2,890 1,426 - - 2,890 1,426
Public Works 7,864 6,373 - - 7,864 6,373
Interest and Fiscal Charges 1,190 862 - - 1,190 862
Water - - 10,327 9,371 10,327 9,371
Sewer - - 7,984 8,147 7,984 8,147
Storm Sewer - - 2,984 2,543 2,984 2,543
Refuse - - 4,343 3,594 4,343 3,594
Other Business-type Activities - - 467 226 467 226
Total Expenses 63,320 49,557 26,105 23,881 89,425 73,438
Changes in Net Position 19,175 21,349 7,364 12,861 26,539 34,210
Net Position at Beginning of Year 132,789 111,440 157,767 144,907 290,556 256,347
Net Position at End of Year $ 151,964 $ 132,789 $ 165,131 $ 157,768 $ 317,095 $ 290,557

* reporting in 'thousands' displays some rounding variances
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Governmental Activities
Governmental activities net position increased 14.44% or $19.2 million in 2023.

Public safety, which primarily supports the operations of the police and fire departments accounted for $31.3 million
of the total governmental expenses of the City. These expenses were partially funded by $1.5 million in direct charges
to users of the services, $59 thousand in operating grants and contributions and $440 thousand in capital grants and
contributions. Public works expenses totaled $7.9 million. Public works expenses were partially funded by $416
thousand in direct charges to users of the services, $5.5 million in operating grants and contributions and $6.7 million
in capital grants and contributions. General government expenses totaled $9.2 million. General government expenses
were partially funded by $5 million in direct charges to users of the services and $670.6 thousand in operating grants
and contributions and $436.9 thousand in capital grants and contributions.

State and federal government along with local developers contributed to the governmental activities of the City a total
of $7.5 million in operating grants and contributions and $8.2 million in capital grants and contributions. These
revenues are restricted to a particular program or purpose.

General revenues totaled $53.5 million and amounted to 64.82% of total governmental revenues. These revenues
primarily consist of property, income tax and payments in lieu of taxes of $47.6 million. Unrestricted grants and
entitlements of $1.6 million, which includes local government funds, is the other primary source of general revenues.

The statement of activities shows the cost of program services and the charges for services and sales and grants
offsetting those services. The following table shows, for governmental activities, the total cost of services and the net
cost of services. That is, it identifies the cost of these services supported by tax revenue and unrestricted state grants
and entitlements. As can be seen in the graph below, the City is highly dependent upon property and income taxes as
well as unrestricted grants and entitlements to support its governmental activities.

Governmental Activities - Program Revenues vs. Total Expenses
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Governmental Activities
(In Thousands)*

Total Cost of Total Cost of Net Costof  Net Cost of

Services Services Services Services
2023 2022 2023 2022
Program Expenses:
General government $ 9,147 $ 7,106 $ 2,988 $ 3,167
Public safety 31,328 25,662 29,288 24,006
Municipal court 4,662 3,529 1,020 (520)
Parks and facilities 5,219 3,565 3,045 1,867
Community development 1,020 1,035 443 779
Airport 2,890 1,426 1,024 (236)
Public works 7,864 6,373 (4,703) (8,576)
Interest and Fiscal Charges 1,190 862 1,190 862
Total Expenses $ 63,320 $ 49,558 $ 34295 $ 21,349

The dependence upon general revenues for governmental activities is apparent, with 54.16% of expenses supported
through taxes and other general revenues. Overall, the primary cause of the increase in expenses in both governmental
and business-type activities was the result of an increase in pension expense. This increase in expenses incurred at the
pension system level for Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) and the Ohio Police and Fire (OP&F)
Pension Fund due to a decrease in net investment income on investments compared to previous years.

Governmental Activities - General and Program Revenues
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Business-Type Activities

Business-type activities include the water, wastewater, stormwater, refuse, parking, and golf enterprise funds. These
programs had program revenues of $32.4 million, general revenues of $1.1 million and expenses of $26.1 million for
2023.

The graph below shows the business-type activities assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources, and net position at year-end 2023 and 2022.

Net Position in Business - Type Activities
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of
spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements. In particular,
unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at year-end.

The City’s governmental funds (as presented on the balance sheet on page 24) reported a combined fund balance of
$62 million which is $7.2 million higher than last year’s fund balance of $54.8 million. The schedule below indicates
the fund balances and the total change in fund balances as of December 31, 2023 for all major and nonmajor
governmental funds.

Fund Fund
Balances Balances Increase
12/31/23 12/31/22 (Decrease)

Major Funds:

General $ 18,937,362 $ 13,377,980 $ 5,559,382

Fire/EMS income tax 12,341,783 10,451,728 1,890,055

Capital improvement (2,915,153) (2,981,855) 66,702

Point project (4,625,878) 459,486 (5,085,364)
Other nonmajor governmental funds 38,262,280 33,501,125 4,761,155
Total $ 62,000,394 $ 54,808,464 $ 7,191,930
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General Fund

The General Fund increased $5.56 million. As shown below, total taxes increased $1.9 million, mostly attributable
to an increase in income tax collections with more residents working from home; charges for services increased $0.7
thousand, licenses, permits, and fees increased $273 thousand; intergovernmental increased $183 thousand, and other
revenues increased $3.96 million. The other revenue includes a fair value adjustment of $1,627,030 due to market
volatility. The City generally holds investments until maturity, which limits the actual loss on City investments, which
include federal agency securities.

2023 2022 Percentage

Amount Amount Change
Revenues
Taxes $ 24,382,630 $ 22,437,114 8.67 %
Charges for services 2,854,288 2,853,517 0.03 %
Licenses, permits and fees 2,155,613 1,882,472 1451 %
Fines and forfeitures 73,485 73,768 (0.38) %
Investment income 1,603,710 239,318 570.12 %
Special assessments 19,796 45,332 (56.33) %
Intergovernmental 1,525,859 1,343,187 13.60 %
Other 1,993,604 (1,963,384) 201.54 %
Total $ 34,608,985 $ 26911324 28.60 %

Tax revenue represents 70.45% of all General Fund revenue, and Income Tax revenue represents 91.97% of all tax
revenue in the General Fund. The increase in other revenue was due, in part, to an increase in the fair value of
investments. In the prior year, there was a decrease in fair value. The investment income increase is due to converting
several long-term, extremely low interest rate instruments to short-term, higher interest rate commercial paper
instruments in the City’s investment portfolio.

The table that follows assists in illustrating the expenditures of the general fund.

2023 2022 Percentage
Amount Amount Change

Expenditures

General government $ 7,350,462 $ 8,229,607 (10.68) %
Public safety and other 11,307,723 11,233,392 0.66 %
Parks and facilities 2,557,455 2,333,320 9.61 %
Community development 530,985 695,731 (23.68) %
Public works 20,301 - 100.00 %
Capital outlay 694,988 - 100.00 %
Debt service 236,202 - 100.00 %
Total $ 22,698,116 $ 22,492,050 0.92 %

Total expenditures increased 0.92% from 2022. Average wage increases of 3% were given to employees, but the costs
of goods and services purchased were the main contributors increased expenditures. The City reclaimed recreation
programming in 2022 and costs associated with running these programs, as well as adding new ones, were also
contributors for this increase. The General Fund also includes additional support to the Municipal Court which, before
the pandemic, was essentially self-supporting for the past 2 decades.
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Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund

The Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund had revenues and other financing sources of $16.9 million in 2023. This represents
an increase of $1.9 million from 2022 revenues, mostly due to 2023’s $1.3 million increase in income tax revenue.
The expenditures and other financing uses of the Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund, which totaled $15 million in 2023,
decreased $2.1 million from 2022; $4 million was attributable to the purchase of a building that will house the City’s
fifth fire station. The resulting net increase in fund balance for the Fire/EMS Income Tax Fund was $1.9 million or
18.08%.

Capital Improvement Fund

The Capital Improvement Fund is funded by federal and state grants, and significantly funded by transfers from the
General Fund. When grants are in high demand and short supply, as was the case in 2023, the fund is more reliant on
General Fund transfers. The Capital Improvement Fund’s revenues and other financing sources totaled $3.67 million
in 2023. The expenditures and other financing uses of the Capital Improvement Fund totaled $3.6 million in 2023.
The fund balance increased by $66.7 thousand or 2.24%. The reduction in the ending fund balance from 2022 through
the end of 2023 is largely attributed to four large projects with outstanding encumbrances of $4.4 million at the end
0f2023.

Point Project Fund

The Point Project Fund had revenues of $2.5 million in 2023. The expenditures of the Point Project Fund totaled $7.6
million in 2023. The net decrease in the fund balance for the Point Project Fund was $5.08 million or 1,106.75%.

Budgeting Highlights

The City’s budgeting process is prescribed by the Ohio Revised Code (ORC). Essentially the budget is the City’s
appropriations which are restricted by the amounts of anticipated revenues certified by the Budget Commission in
accordance with the ORC. Therefore, the City prepares an annual budget of revenues and expenditures/expenses for
all funds of the City for use by City department heads and such other budgetary documents, as are required by State
statute, including the annual appropriations ordinance, which is effective the first day of January.

The City’s most significant budgeted fund is the General Fund. The final actual revenues were more than estimated
revenues by 7.50%. Intergovernmental revenues exceeded expectations by 9.60% as the Federal ARPA funding was
not utilized. Charges for services [largely Engineering fees] exceeded expectations by 12.01%; and property and other
local taxes exceeded expectations by 0.44%. For expenditures, the final appropriations increased $1.3 million over
original but actual expenditures were below the original appropriation by $1.8 million and below the final
appropriation by $3.1 million. Public Safety expenditures [Police Department and Street Lighting] were $1.8 million
(13.91%) under final budget, largely due to personal services expenditures that were under budget; and General
Government expenditures were $1.3 million (11.96%) under final budget.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements
for business-type activities, except in more detail. The only difference between the amounts reported as business-type
activities and the amounts reported in the proprietary fund statements is related to interfund activity. The only
interfund activity reported in the government wide statements are those between business-type activities and
governmental activities (reported as internal balances and transfers) whereas interfund amounts between various
enterprise funds are reported in the proprietary fund statements.
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The City’s major business-type funds are the water, wastewater, stormwater, and refuse funds. As a rule, these funds
consistently generate sufficient revenues to cover costs, in part due to capacity fees charged to new customers and
developers to hook into the City’s water and wastewater lines, and stormwater and refuse fees charged to all residents
and businesses. All utility rates are reviewed annually to determine whether or not rates should be increased in order
to cover current expenses and to prepare for. There was an increase in stormwater rates and in refuse rates for 2023,
and an increase in water and refuse rates is scheduled for 2024. There are no known significant future fund resource
limitations on any of the major business-type funds.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

At the end of 2023, the City had $331.74 million (net of accumulated depreciation) invested in land, construction in
progress, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure. Of this total, $159.41 million
was reported in governmental activities and $172.33 million was reported in business-type activities. See Note 8 in
the basic financial statements for additional capital asset disclosure. The 2022 governmental activities capital assets
due to the implementation of GASB 96, adding the right-to-use asset related to subscription-based information
technology agreements. The following table shows 2023 balances compared to 2022:

Capital Assets at December 31

(Net of Depreciation)
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
Restated Restated

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Land $ 10,968,606 $ 10,927,156 $ 4,509,561 $ 4,509,561 $ 15,478,167 $ 15,436,717
Buildings and improvements 26,891,135 28,041,952 39,452,879 41,673,264 66,344,014 69,715,216
Machinery & equipment 6,091,132 4,658,378 8,484,190 5,294,610 14,575,322 9,952,988
Infrastructure 88,104,786 87,150,193 111,461,793 109,560,457 199,566,579 196,710,650
Right-to-use: equipment 711,905 - 357,177 - 1,069,082 -
Right-to-use: software 324,701 464,861 - - 324,701 464,861
Construction in progress 26,316,752 16,925,115 8,065,479 3,595,121 34,382,231 20,520,236
Totals $ 159,409,017 $ 148,167,655 § 172,331,079 $ 164,633,013 § 331,740,096 $ 312,800,668

The City’s net investment in capital assets respectively for governmental and business-type activities as of December
31,2023, was $117.90 million and $129.7 million. This investment in capital assets includes land, land improvements,
buildings and improvements, roads, bridges, storm sewers, traffic signalization, street lighting, machinery and
equipment, and water and sewer lines. The City is experiencing significant growth in both residential and commercial
activity, resulting in construction in progress and increases in infrastructure values for streets, water lines and sewer
lines. The net investment in capital assets is directly affected by increases to capital assets, debt, and depreciation.
For 2023, capital assets in governmental activities increased by $11.24 million. The net book value of the City’s
infrastructure (cost less accumulated depreciation) represents approximately 55.27% and 64.68% of the City’s total
governmental and business-type capital assets respectively.
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Debt Administration

The City’s long term debt has been restated at December 31, 2022 for the implementation of GASB Statement No.
96, subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITA). The City had the following long-term
obligations outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Governmental Activities

Restated

2023 2022
General obligation bonds $ 24,605,990 $ 26,710,037
Lease obligation 694,988 -
SBITA 304,296 464,861
Intergovernmental payable 5,868,402 5,868,402
Total long-term obligations $ 31,473,676 $ 33,043,300

Business-type Activities

2023 2022
General obligation bonds $ 12,064,260 $ 11,044,963
Water loans 24,878,509 26,077,116
Sewer loans 5,201,718 6,815,841
Financed purchase agreement 322,990 -
Total long-term obligations $ 42,467,477 $ 43,937,920

At December 31, 2023, the City had several debt obligations outstanding totaling over $70 million. The obligations
included nearly $37 million in bonds. The City also has a long-term payable with Delaware County of $5.9 million
for Sawmill Parkway road construction that will be paid off over time with payments in-lieu of taxes as developments
commence within the City incorporated area.

Of the total obligations, $42.5 million will be repaid from business-type activities. The City entered into a long-term
loan with Ohio Water Development Authority to fund construction of the new Wastewater Treatment Facility. The
improvements, completed in 2008, increased the City’s wastewater treatment capacity from 5 million gallons per day
to 10 million gallons per day. This additional capacity is needed to service the continued growth of the City for the
next 15 to 20 years. As of December 31, 2023, $5.2 million remained outstanding on the loan. In 2012, the City
obtained another loan from OWDA to fund a Water Treatment Plant Rehabilitation and Expansion project. This
expansion project was completed in 2014, the rehab project was completed in late 2015. At the end of 2023, the
remaining principal was $24.9 million.

In addition to the debt outlined above, the City’s long-term debt also includes compensated absences, pension and
OPEB-related obligations. Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 9 of this report.
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(UNAUDITED)

Current Financial Issues

The City is still in the construction stages of replacing the railroad bridge on the east side at “The Point”” and widening
the highly-congested intersection. This will occur over the next several years and be over $44.4 million when
completed; $3.8 million for design, $2.3 million for property acquisition, and $38.3 million for construction. Outside
funding, including Federal and State grants and other outside agencies, will total $38.8 million and local funding will
total approximately $5.6 million.

Contacting the City’s Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, creditors, and investors with a general overview
of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of
the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should be directed to Rob Alger, Finance
Director, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015.
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Assets:

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents . . .

Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Incometaxes. . ... ... ..........
Property and other local taxes . . . . .. ...
Payment in lieuof taxes . . . . .. .. .....
Accounts. . . .. ... ... L
Loansreceivable. . . . . . ... .. .....
Special assessments . . . . .. .. ... L.
Accrued interest . . . ... ... ...
Due from other governments . . . . . . . ..

Materials and supplies inventory . . . . . . . . .

Prepayments. . . . .. ... ... ......

Internal balance. . . . .. ... ... ... ...

Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents in segregated accounts .

Customer deposits. . . .. ... .. ......
Netpensionasset. . . . .. .. .........
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress . . . . . . .

Depreciable capital assets,net . . . . .. ...
Total capital assets,net. . . . ... .......

Totalassets . . . . . ... ... ..........

Deferred outflows of resources:

Unamortized deferred charges on debt refunding . .

Pension. . . . ... .........

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources .

Liabilities:

Accounts payable . . . ... .. ... ... ...
Contracts payable. . . . .. .. ... ......
Retainage payable . . . . . ... ... ....
Accrued wages and benefits payable . . . . . . .
Compensated absences payable - matured . . . .
Due to other governments . . . . . . ... ...
Accrued interest payable . . . . . .. ... ...
Payable from restricted assets:

Customer deposits. . . . . .. ... ......
Claims payable. . . . .. . ...........
Notes payable. . . .
Long-term liabilities

Due withinoneyear . . . . ... .......

Due in more than one year -net OPEB liability.

Due in more than one year - net pension liability.

Other amounts due in more than one year. . . .

Total liabilities. . . . . ... ... .. .......

Deferred inflows of resources:
Property taxes levied for the nextyear. . . . . .

Unamortized deferred charges on debt refunding . .

Pension . . .. ... .........

Total deferred inflows of resources . . . . . . ..

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets. . . . . . . ..
Restricted for:
Capital projects . . . .. ... ... ... ...
Debtservice. . . . . .. ... .. ......
Publicsafety. . . .. ... .. ... .....
Municipal court. . . . ... ... ... ...

Community development. . . . . . ... ...
Perpetual care; non-expendable. . . . . .. ...
Pension. . . .. ..... ... ....... ..
Other purposes. . . . . . . ... .......
Unrestricted. . . . ... ... ... ... ...

Total netposition. . . . ... ... .. ......

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2023
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
$ 72,287,960 $ 37,511,497 109,799,457
11,376,409 - 11,376,409
3,763,874 - 3,763,874
2,099,758 - 2,099,758
299,961 2,102,305 2,402,266
104,213 - 104,213
84,636 - 84,636
246,650 - 246,650
10,795,360 - 10,795,360
86,474 182,207 268,681
267,702 165,291 432,993
(713,102) 713,102 -
188,234 - 188,234
14,214 99,765 113,979
255,028 81,895 336,923
37,285,358 12,575,039 49,860,397
122,123,659 159,756,040 281,879,699
159,409,017 172,331,079 331,740,096
260,566,388 213,187,141 473,753,529
127,821 172,275 300,096
22,528,781 2,645,815 25,174,596
3,539,900 407,134 3,947,034
26,196,502 3,225,224 29,421,726
286,762,890 216,412,365 503,175,255
706,072 206,928 913,000
173,330 156,483 329,813
354,206 165,714 519,920
743,471 113,360 856,831
927,783 - 927,783
175,267 22,384 197,651
500,289 539,626 1,039,915
14,214 99,765 113,979
1,033,695 - 1,033,695
15,400,000 - 15,400,000
6,322,937 3,827,784 10,150,721
3,620,034 131,276 3,751,310
61,720,663 6,061,786 67,782,449
33,447,182 39,778,607 73,225,789
125,139,143 51,103,713 176,242,856
3,689,874 - 3,689,874
106,129 - 106,129
2,384,209 130,709 2,514,918
3,479,887 46,664 3,526,551
9,660,099 177,373 9,837,472
134,799,242 51,281,086 186,080,328
117,897,900 129,718,134 247,616,034
7,255,780 - 7,255,780
159,757 - 159,757
158,901 - 158,901
3,644,074 - 3,644,074
1,998,095 - 1,998,095
223,122 - 223,122
7,126,844 - 7,126,844
8,019,407 - 8,019,407
35,478 - 35,478
255,028 81,895 336,923
83,891 - 83,891
5,105,371 35,331,250 40,436,621
$ 151,963,648 $ 165,131,279 317,094,927
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Governmental activities:
Current:
General government . . . . . ... ... ..
Publicsafety. . . ... ... ... .....
Municipal court. . . . . ... ...
Parks and facilities. . . . . ... ... ...

Total governmental activities. . . . . . . . ..

Business-type activities:
Water . . . ... ... ... .
Wastewater. . . . . . ... ... ... ...
Stormwater. . . . . .. ... ... ...
Refuse. . . . ... ... ... ... ...
Other business-type activities:
Golf . ... ... ... ..
Parking. . . . ... ... ... ... ... .
Total business-type activities . . . . . . . . .

Total primary government . . . . . . ... ..

CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Grants Capital Grants
Expenses Services and Sales and Contributions and Contributions
$ 9,146,725 $ 5,050,996 $ 670,593 $ 436,899
31,327,823 1,541,487 59,169 439,540
4,662,288 2,682,886 959,741 -
5,219,256 1,763,033 163,535 247,444
1,020,490 402,611 174,751 -
2,889,863 1,439,919 - 425,422
7,863,823 415,928 5,460,637 6,690,670
1,189,748 - - -
63,320,016 13,296,860 7,488,426 8,239,975
10,326,366 10,530,638 - 1,925,498
7,984,279 10,567,684 - 1,211,628
2,984,355 1,555,540 - 1,381,889
4,342,861 4,670,050 - 100,000
394,752 379,984 - -
72,431 52,392 - -
26,105,044 27,756,288 - 4,619,015
$ 89,425,060 $ 41,053,148 $ 7,488,426  § 12,858,990

General revenues:
Income taxes levied for:
General purposes. . . . . . . ... ... ..
Publicsafety. . . .. .. ... .......
Parks and facilities. . . . . ... ... ....
Property taxes levied for:
General purposes. . . . . . ... ... ...
Publicsafety. . . . .. ... ... .....
Othertaxes. . . . .. ... ... .......
Grants and contributions not restricted
to specific programs . . . . . ... ... ..
Payment in lieuof taxes. . . . . ... ... ...
Investment earnings . . . . . ... ... ...
Increase in fair value of investments. . . . . . .
Miscellaneous . . . . . ... ... ......

Total general revenues. . . . . . ... ... ..
Change innetposition. . . . . . ... ... ..
Net position at beginning of year. . . . . . ..

Net position atend of year . . . . .. ... ..

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (2,988,237) § - (2,988,237)
(29,287,627) - (29,287,627)
(1,019,661) - (1,019,661)
(3,045,244) - (3,045,244)
(443,128) - (443,128)
(1,024,522) - (1,024,522)
4,703,412 - 4,703,412
(1,189,748) - (1,189,748)
(34,294,755) - (34,294,755)

- 2,129,770 2,129,770

- 3,795,033 3,795,033
- (46,926) (46,926)

- 427,189 427,189
- (14,768) (14,768)
- (20,039) (20,039)

- 6,270,259 6,270,259
(34,294,755) 6,270,259 (28,024,496)
22,865,231 - 22,865,231
15,976,174 - 15,976,174
3,423,467 - 3,423,467
1,958,581 - 1,958,581
604,522 - 604,522
681,878 - 681,878
1,594,156 - 1,594,156
2,729,726 - 2,729,726
1,660,075 1,016,782 2,676,857
1,627,030 - 1,627,030
348,979 76,883 425,862
53,469,819 1,093,665 54,563,484
19,175,064 7,363,924 26,538,988
132,788,584 157,767,355 290,555,939
$ 151,963,648 $ 165,131,279 317,094,927
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2023
Nonmajor Total
Fire/EMS Capital Point Governmental Governmental
General Income Tax Improvement Project Funds Funds
Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents. . . . . $ 16,629,465 § 14235299 § 1,215,627 $§ 2,652,311 $ 32,024,924 $ 66,757,626
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
Incometaxes. . . . . ... ... ........ 6,200,888 4,262,025 - - 913,496 11,376,409
Property and other local taxes . . . . . ... .. 2,842,054 - - - 921,820 3,763,874
Payments in lieu of taxes. . . .. . .. ... ... - - - - 2,099,758 2,099,758
Accounts. . . . . ... 292,053 557 - - 7,351 299,961
Loansreceivable. . . . . ... ... ...... - - - - 104,213 104,213
Special assessments . . . . ... ... L. 77,751 - 6,885 - - 84,636
Interfund loans. . . . . ... ... ....... 170,000 - - - - 170,000
Accruedinterest . . . . . ... ... ... ... 246,650 - - - - 246,650
Due fromotherfunds . . . ... ... ... .. - - - - 64,920 64,920
Due from other governments. . . . . . ... ... 808,244 239,863 776,181 17,699 8,949,373 10,791,360
Materials and supplies inventory. . . . . . .. .. - - - - 86,474 86,474
Prepayments. . . . . ... ... ... ... ... 220,718 500 - - 1,905 223,123
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents in segregated accounts 30,552 - - - 157,682 188,234
Customer deposits. . . . .. .. .. ... .... - - - - 14,214 14,214
Totalassets. . . . .. ... ... ... ....... $ 27,518,375 § 18,738,244 § 1,998,693 § 2,670,010 § 45,346,130  § 96,271,452
Liabilities:
Accounts payable . . . . ... ... ... ... $ 184,112 $ 145,098 $ 6,457 $ -3 149,301 §$ 484,968
Contracts payable . . . . .. ... ........ 87,157 - 40,937 2,398 16,149 146,641
Retainage payable . . . . . ... ... ...... - - 219,442 - 134,764 354,206
Accrued wages and benefits payable. . . . . . .. 377,779 214,263 - - 118,923 710,965
Compensated absences payable . . . . . .. ... 566,047 224,747 - - 136,989 927,783
Interfund loans payable. . . . . .. ........ - - 880,000 - - 880,000
Duetootherfunds. . . . . ... ... ...... - - - - 68,022 68,022
Due to other governments . . . . . . . ... ... 77,885 63,911 - - 26,987 168,783
Accrued interest payable . . . . . .. ... ... - 48,750 60,125 293,490 27,625 429,990
Payable from restricted assets:
Customer deposits. . . . . ... .. ...... - - - - 14,214 14,214
Notespayable. . . . . ... ... ........ - 3,000,000 3,700,000 7,000,000 1,700,000 15,400,000
Total liabilities. . . . . . ... ... ... .. .... 1,292,980 3,696,769 4,906,961 7,295,888 2,392,974 19,585,572
Deferred inflows of resources:
Property taxes levied for the next year. . . . . . . 2,792,054 - - - 897,820 3,689,874
Payments in lieu of taxes levied for the next year . - - - - 2,099,758 2,099,758
Delinquent property tax revenue not available. . . 50,000 - - - 24,000 74,000
Special assessments revenue not available. . . . . 77,751 - 6,885 - - 84,636
Income tax revenue not available . . . . . .. .. 3,934,348 2,699,692 - - 578,703 7,212,743
Intergovernmental revenue not available . . . . . 433,880 - - - 1,090,595 1,524,475
Total deferred inflows of resources . . . . . ... .. 7,288,033 2,699,692 6,885 - 4,690,876 14,685,486
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. 8,581,013 6,396,461 4,913,846 7,295,888 7,083,850 34,271,058
Fund balances:
Nonspendable . . . . . ... .. .. ........ 251,270 500 - - 246,517 498,287
Restricted . . . . .. ... .. ... ........ - 12,341,283 - - 29,451,350 41,792,633
Committed. . . . ... ... .. ... ....... 758,320 - - - 8,543,314 9,301,634
Assigned. . . . ... 2,687,479 - - - 50,780 2,738,259
Unassigned. . . . . ... ... ......... 15,240,293 - (2,915,153) (4,625,878) (29,681) 7,669,581
Total fund balances. . . . . ... .. ...... .. 18,937,362 12,341,783 (2,915,153) (4,625,878) 38,262,280 62,000,394
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and fund balances . . . . . ... ... § 27,518,375 _§ 18,738244 § 1,998,693 § 2,670,010 $ 45,346,130 $ 96,271,452

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO
NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

DECEMBER 31, 2023

Total governmental fund balances

Amounts reported for governmental activities on the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures
and therefore are deferred inflows of resources in the funds.
Income taxes receivable $
Property and other local taxes receivable
Payment in lieu of taxes receivable
Special assessments receivable
Intergovernmental receivable

Total

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of garage services,
information technology, insurance and worker's compensation to individual funds.

The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities

on the statement of net position.

Accrued interest payable is not due and payable in the current
period and therefore is not reported in the funds.

Unamortized deferred amounts on refundings are not recognized
in the governmental funds.

Unamortized premiums/discounts on bond issuances are not recognized in the funds.

The net pension asset and net pension liability are not available to pay
for current period expenditures and are not due and payable in the
current period, respectively; therefore, the asset, liability and related
deferred inflows/outflows are not reported in governmental funds

$ 62,000,394
158,896,264
7,212,743
74,000
2,099,758
84,636
1,524,475
10,995,612
3,800,001
(68,853)
21,692
(2,049,248)

Net pension asset 236,786
Deferred outflows of resources 21,893,012
Deferred inflows of resources (2,291,734)
Net pension liability (60,370,414)
Total (40,532,350)
The net OPEB liability is not available to pay for
current period expenditures and are not due and payable in the current
period, respectively; therefore, the liability and related deferred
inflows/outflows are not reported in governmental funds.
Deferred outflows of resources 3,440,212
Deferred inflows of resources (3,460,533)
Net OPEB liability (3,590,793)
Total (3,611,114)

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and compensated
absences payable are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds.
General obligation bonds payable
SBITA
Leases payable
Intergovernmental agreement
Compensated absences payable
Police and fire past pension costs

(22,556,741)
(228,659)
(694,988)

(5,868,402)
(7,967,763)
(172,197)

Total

Net position of governmental activities

(37,488,750)

$ 151,963,648

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Nonmajor Total
Fire/EMS Capital Point Governmental Governmental
General Income Tax  Improvement Project Funds Funds
Revenues:
Incometaxes. . . . ... ... ....... $ 22,424,049 $ 15,701,490 $ - $ - $ 3,364,586 $ 41,490,125
Property and other local taxes. . . . . . .. 1,958,581 - - - 1,299,048 3,257,629
Special assessments . . . . . ... ... .. 19,796 - 10,360 - - 30,156
Payments in lieu of taxes. . . . . . .. ... - - - - 2,452,968 2,452,968
Intergovernmental . . . . . . ... ... .. 1,525,859 2,765 1,699,174 2,351,001 7,561,259 13,140,058
Investment income. . . . . . ... ... .. 1,603,710 - - - 629,983 2,233,693
Licenses, permits and fees. . . . . . . ... 2,155,613 - - - 6,086 2,161,699
Fines and forfeitures. . . . . . . ... ... 73,485 - - - 1,997,015 2,070,500
Impactfees . . . .. ... ........ - - - - 1,855,104 1,855,104
Charges for services. . . . . . ... .... 2,854,288 8,108 - - 3,069,392 5,931,788
Donations . . . .. ............. 2,300 - - 100,000 26,300 128,600
Fair value adjustment. . . ... ... ... 1,627,030 - - - - 1,627,030
Reimbursements . . . . ... ... ... .. - - - 82,853 - 82,853
Miscellaneous. . . . . ... ... ...... 364,274 962,035 - - 177,925 1,504,234
Totalrevenues . . . . . . . . ... ...... 34,608,985 16,674,398 1,709,534 2,533,854 22,439,666 77,966,437
Expenditures:
Current:
General government . . . . . .. ... .. 7,350,462 - 799,121 - 714,272 8,863,855
Public safety:
Police. . .. ............... 10,338,105 - 787,747 - 718,141 11,843,993
Fire . .................. - 14,881,703 - - 1,469 14,883,172
Other. . . . ... ............ 969,618 - - - 844 970,462
Municipal court. . . . . ... ... ... - - - - 4,408,053 4,408,053
Parks & facilities. . . . . ... ... .. 2,557,455 - 330,783 - 989,026 3,877,264
Community development . . . . . . . .. 530,985 - - - 529,593 1,060,578
Airport . . . . ... - - 5,084 - 1,811,225 1,816,309
Publicworks. . . .. ... ....... 20,301 - 1,465,222 7,277,627 8,362,718 17,125,868
Capitaloutlay . . . ... ... ... .... 694,988 - - - - 694,988
Debt service:
Principal retirement . . . . . . . ... .. 236,202 - - - 4,153,296 4,389,498
Interest and fiscal charges. . . . . . . .. - 128,389 133,791 341,591 931,684 1,535,455
Total expenditures. . . . . . ... ...... 22,698,116 15,010,092 3,521,748 7,619,218 22,620,321 71,469,495
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures . . . . . . .. .. 11,910,869 1,664,306 (1,812,214) (5,085,364) (180,655) 6,496,942
Other financing sources (uses):
Lease transaction. . . . . ... ... 694,988 - - - - 694,988
Transfersin . . . ... ... ... ..... - 225,749 1,966,672 - 8,892,152 11,084,573
Transfers (out). . . . .. ... ....... (7,046,475) - (87,756) - (3,950,342) (11,084,573)
Total other financing sources (uses). . . . . . (6,351,487) 225,749 1,878,916 - 4,941,810 694,988
Net change in fund balances. . . . . ... .. 5,559,382 1,890,055 66,702 (5,085,364) 4,761,155 7,191,930
Fund balances (deficit) at beginning of year. 13,377,980 10,451,728 (2,981,855) 459,486 33,501,125 54,808,464
Fund balances (deficit) at end of year. . . . $ 18,937,362 $ 12,341,783 $(2915,153) § (4,625878) $ 38,262,280 $ 62,000,394

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 7,191,930

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in
the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by
which capital outlays exceeds depreciation expense in the current period.

Capital outlay $ 14,374,611
Donated capital assets 3,392,250
Current year depreciation (6,629,519)
Total 11,137,342

The net effect of various transactions involving capital assets is to
decrease net position. (162,369)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Income tax revenue 774,747
Payments in lieu of taxes 276,758
Special assessments revenue 9,508
Intergovernmental revenue 37,419
Total 1,098,432

The issuance of leases are reported as other financing
sources in the governmental funds; however, in the statement
of activities they are not reported as revenues as they increase the
liabilities on the statement of net position. (694,988)

Repayment of long-term intergovernment agreement is an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities on the
statement of net position. 11,459

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental
funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities on the
statement of net position. 4,389,498

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds,
whereas, in the governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported
when due. The following items resulted in less interest being reported
in the statement of activities.

Decrease in accrued interest payable 15,010
Amortization of deferred amounts on refunding (29,201)
Amortization of bond premiums/discounts 361,345
Total 347,154

Contractually required pension/OPEB contributions are reported as expenditures in
governmental funds; however, the statement of net position reports these amounts
as deferred outflows.

Pension 4,066,617
OPEB 85,783
Total 4,152,400

Except for amounts reported as deferred inflows/outflows, changes in the net
pension asset/liability and net OPEB liability are reported as pension/OPEB
expense in the statement of activities.

Pension (8,883,209)
OPEB 264,367
Total (8,618,842)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, such as compensated
absences and the intergovernmental agreement, do not require the use of current financial resources
and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (171,320)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of
garage, information technology, insurance and worker's compensation
to individual funds is not reported in the government-wide statement of activities.
Governmental fund expenditures and the related internal service fund
revenues are eliminated. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds,
are allocated among the governmental activities. 494,368

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 19,175,064

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS)
GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Incometaxes . . . . ... .......... $ 21,568,235 $ 21,568,235 $ 22,289,388 $ 721,153
Property and other local taxes . . . . . . .. 1,950,000 1,950,000 1,958,581 8,581
Charges forservices . . . . ... ... ... 1,712,258 1,712,258 1,917,887 205,629
Licenses, permits and fees . . . . . . . . .. 2,070,000 2,070,000 2,155,613 85,613
Fines and forfeitures . . . . . ... ... .. 110,000 110,000 80,306 (29,694)
Intergovernmental . . . . . . ... ... .. 1,251,500 1,251,500 1,371,698 120,198
Special assessments . . . . . .. ... ... 50,000 50,000 19,796 (30,204)
Investmentincome. . . . . . ... ... .. 1,986,691 1,986,691 3,047,506 1,060,815
Reimbursements. . . . . ... ... ... 130,000 130,000 157,908 27,908
Other. . . . . ... ... ... ...... 8,016 8,016 152,054 144,038
Totalrevenues . . . . . ... ... ...... 30,836,700 30,836,700 33,150,737 2,314,037
Expenditures:
Current:
General government. . . . . .. ... .. 9,476,584 10,474,084 9,221,834 1,252,250
Public Safety. . . . ... ... .. .. 12,910,688 13,061,563 11,244,531 1,817,032
Community development . . . . . . . .. 482,082 634,082 559,267 74,815
Total expenditures . . . . . ... ... ... 22,869,354 24,169,729 21,025,632 3,144,097
Excess of revenues over expenditures . . . . 7,967,346 6,666,971 12,125,105 5,458,134
Other financing sources (uses):
Advancesin. . . ... ... .. ... ... 80,000 80,000 80,000 -
Advancesout. . . .. ... ... ... .. - (49,782) - 49,782
Transfersin. . . .. ... ... ...... 1,744,198 1,744,198 43,698 (1,700,500)
Transfersout. . . . .. ... ......... (9,837,929) (11,337,941) (9,857,929) 1,480,012
Total other financing sources (uses) . . . . . (8,013,731) (9,563,525) (9,734,231) (170,706)
Net change in fund balances . . . . . . . .. (46,385) (2,896,554) 2,390,874 5,287,428
Fund balances at beginning of year. . . . . 9,540,087 9,540,087 9,540,087 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated. . . 764,959 764,959 764,959 -
Fund balance at end of year. . . . .. ... $ 10,258,661 $ 7,408,492 $ 12,695,920 $ 5,287,428

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS)
FIRE/EMS INCOME TAX FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Incometaxes . . . .. ............ $ 15,400,000 $ 15,400,000 $ 15,602,075 $ 202,075
Charges for services. . . . . .. ... ... 929,740 929,740 951,900 22,160
Intergovernmental. . . . . . ... ... .. 618,000 618,000 2,765 (615,235)
Miscellaneous. . . . . . ... ... ... ... 15,000 15,000 10,135 (4,865)
Totalrevenues . . . . . ... ... ...... 16,962,740 16,962,740 16,566,875 (395,865)
Expenditures:
Current:
Public Safety
Personal services . . . . .. .. 13,141,766 13,141,766 11,000,307 2,141,459
Materials and supplies . . . . ... .. ... 459,198 602,665 525,212 77,453
Services and charges. . . . . .. ... ... 1,539,687 1,619,758 1,592,971 26,787
Refunds. . . .. ... ... ........ 550,000 550,000 530,241 19,759
Capitaloutlay . . . . ... ... ... ... 12,009,166 13,765,989 4,004,760 9,761,229
Debt service:
Principal retirement. . . . . .. ... .. 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 -
Interest and fiscal charges . . . . . . .. 129,639 129,639 129,639 -
Total expenditures . . . . . . .. ... ... 31,829,456 33,809,817 21,783,130 12,026,687
Excess of expenditures over revenues . . . . (14,866,716) (16,847,077) (5,216,255) 11,630,822
Other financing sources (uses):
Noteissuance. . . . . . . . ... ..... 12,000,000 12,000,000 3,000,000 (9,000,000)
Transfersin . . . . ... ... ... .... 345,000 345,000 319,799 (25,201)
Transfersout. . . . ... ... ... ... (94,050) (94,050) (94,050) -
Total other financing sources (uses) . . . . . . . 12,250,950 12,250,950 3,225,749 (9,025,201)
Net change in fund balances . . . . . . . .. (2,615,766) (4,596,127) (1,990,506) 2,605,621
Fund balances at beginning of year. . . . . 11,208,984 11,208,984 11,208,984 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated. . . 2,069,697 2,069,697 2,069,697 -
Fund balance at end of year. . . . .. ... $ 10,662,915 $ 8,682,554 $ 11,288,175 $ 2,605,621

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

‘Water Wastewater Stormwater Refuse
Assets:
Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents. . . $ 12,525,928 $ 20,920,648 $ 1,870,011 $ 1,708,336
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles):
Accounts. . . . . . ... ... ... ... 768,156 821,711 131,016 381,422
Interfundloans. . . . ... ... ...... 880,000 1,378,000 - -
Due from other funds . . . . .. ... ... - - - -
Due from other governments. . . . . . . . .. - - - -

Materials and supplies inventory. . . . . . . .. 119,214 62,476 - -

Prepayments. . . . . . ... ... ... ... 67,793 60,714 - 36,784
Total currentassets. . . . . . ... ........ 14,361,091 23,243,549 2,001,027 2,126,542
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:

Customer deposits. . . . . . ... ... .... 99,765 - - -
Net pensionasset . . . . .. ......... 29,593 24,318 4,939 20,438
Capital assets:

Land and construction in progress. . . . . . . 6,174,344 4,925,392 1,135,862 128,687
Depreciable capital assets, net. . . . . . . . . 64,677,635 60,194,542 31,482,211 3,099,562

Total capital assets,net . . . . . ... ..... 70,851,979 65,119,934 32,618,073 3,228,249

Total noncurrent assets . . . . . ... ...... 70,981,337 65,144,252 32,623,012 3,248,687
Totalassets . . . . . ... ... ... ....... 85,342,428 88,387,801 34,624,039 5,375,229
Deferred outflows of resources:

Unamortized deferred charges on refunding. . . . - 172,275 - -
Pension. . . .. ............ 922,807 783,741 164,871 659,075
OPEB. . ... ............ 143,756 122,020 25,431 102,617
Total deferred outflows of resources . . . . . . . . 1,066,563 1,078,036 190,302 761,692
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Governmental
Activities -

Internal Service
Nonmajor Total Fund

$ 486,574 $ 37,511,497 $ 5,530,334

- 2,102,305 -

- 2,258,000 -

3,102 3,102 -

- - 4,000

517 182,207 -

- 165,291 44,579
490,193 42,222,402 5,578,913
- 99,765 -

2,607 81,895 18,242
210,754 12,575,039 67,778
302,090 159,756,040 444,975
512,844 172,331,079 512,753
515,451 172,512,739 530,995
1,005,644 214,735,141 6,109,908
- 172,275 -
115,321 2,645,815 635,769
13,310 407,134 99,688
128,631 3,225,224 735,457
- - Continued
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Stormwater Refuse
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accountspayable . . . ... .. ... ..... $ 73,411 $ 83,260 $ 4,970 $ 37,470
Contracts payable . . . ... ... ....... 34,196 112,921 4912 266
Accrued wages and benefits payable . . . . . . 42,082 36,435 7,716 24,839
Due to other governments . . . . . . ... ... 7,757 6,464 1,552 6,204
Accrued interest payable. . . . . .. ... ... 408,916 130,710 - -
SBITA. . . . ... .. - - - -
Compensated absences payable - current . . . . 82,578 66,842 - 58,501
Retainage payable . . . . .. ... ... ... 134,116 31,598 - -
Interfund loans payable. . . . . .. ... ... - - 1,378,000 -
Claims payable - current. . . . . . . ... .. - - - -
Estimated liability for landfill closure costs . . - - - 5,000
General obligation bonds payable - current. . . 152,747 492,951 - -
OWDA loans payable - current . . . . . . ... 1,237,841 1,672,590 - -
Financed purchase obligations . . . . . . .. .. - - 58,734 -
Total current liabilities. . . . . . ... ... ... 2,173,644 2,633,771 1,455,884 132,280
Long-term liabilities:
Payable from restricted assets - customer deposits 99,765 - - -
Compensated absences payable - matured . . 373,847 226,891 29,665 120,590
General obligation bonds payable . . . . . . .. 1,360,214 10,058,348 - -
Claims payable . . . . . ... ... .. - - - -
OWDA loans payable . . . .. ... ...... 23,640,668 3,529,128 - -
Financed purchase obligations . . . . . . .. .. - - 264,256 -
SBITA. . . . ... ... ... ..... - - - -
Estimated liability for landfill closure costs . . - - - 175,000
Net OPEB liability . . . . . ... ... ... 47,437 38,982 7917 32,762
Net pension liability . . . .. ... ... ... 2,190,434 1,800,020 365,567 1,512,826
Total noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . .. ... .. 27,712,365 15,653,369 667,405 1,841,178
Total liabilities. . . . . .. ... ... ... .... 29,886,009 18,287,140 2,123,289 1,973,458
Deferred inflows of resources:
Pension. . . . . ... ... ... ... 44,296 39,010 693 46,344
OPEB. . . . ... ... ....... 18,102 13,311 2,663 11,210
Total deferred inflows of resources. . . . . . . . 62,398 52,321 3,356 57,554
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets . . . . . ... .. 44,292,197 49,394,673 32,290,171 3,228,249
Restricted forpension. . . . . . ... ... ... 29,593 24,318 4,939 20,438
Unrestricted. . . . . . ... ... ..... 12,138,794 21,707,385 392,586 857,222
Total net position . . . ... ......... ... 8 56,460,584 $ 71,126,376 $ 32,687,696 $ 4,105,909

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Governmental

Activities -
Internal Service
Nonmajor Total Fund
$ 7,817 206,928 $ 221,104
4,188 156,483 26,689
2,288 113,360 32,506
407 22,384 6,484
- 539,626 1,446
- - 37,205
- 207,921 64,961
- 165,714 -
170,000 1,548,000 -
- - 493,716
- 5,000 -
- 645,698 -
- 2,910,431 -
- 58,734 -
184,700 6,580,279 884,111
- 99,765 -
- 750,993 91,523
- 11,418,562 -
- - 539,979
- 27,169,796 -
- 264,256 -
- - 38,432
- 175,000 -
4,178 131,276 29,241
192,939 6,061,786 1,350,249
197,117 46,071,434 2,049,424
381,817 52,651,713 2,933,535
366 130,709 92,475
1,378 46,664 19,354
1,744 177,373 111,829
512,844 129,718,134 424,976
2,607 81,895 18,242
235,263 35,331,250 3,356,783
$ 750,714 165,131,279 $ 3,800,001
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Operating revenues:

Operating expenses:

Personal services . . . . ... .... .. ..
Services and charges. . . . . .. ... ...

Materials and supplies . . . . ... .. ...
Claims. . . .. ................

Depreciation. . . . . . ... ... ... ..

Total operating expenses . . . . . . ... ..

Operating income (loss). . . . . . ... ...

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interestrevenue . . . . . . ... ... ...

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets . . . . .

Interest and fiscal charges . . . . . . . . ..

Intergovernmental . . . . . . .. ... ...
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) . . .

Income (loss) before capital contributions. . .

Capital contributions . . . . . .. ... ...

Change in net position. . . . . . .. ... ..
Net position at beginning of year. . . . ...

Net position atend of year. . . . ... ...

CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Stormwater Refuse

.. $ 7,475,288 $ 8,137,898 $ 1,555,540 $ 4,670,050
3,055,350 2,429,786 - -

.. 19,773 8,881 18,839 10,478
.. 10,550,411 10,576,565 1,574,379 4,680,528
.. 2,118,950 1,805,214 298,573 1,549,780
L. 4,045,592 2,597,929 - 2,056,764
.. 977,483 439,305 - 232,219

R 2,308,557 2,692,379 2,685,782 504,098
R 9,450,582 7,534,827 2,984,355 4,342,861
R 1,099,829 3,041,738 (1,409,976) 337,667
.. 401,089 542,057 28,752 44,884
L. (12,631) 5,726 - 12,655
L. (863,153) (449,452) - -
R (474,695) 98,331 28,752 57,539
R 625,134 3,140,069 (1,381,224) 395,206
1,925,498 1,211,628 1,381,889 100,000

R 2,550,632 4,351,697 665 495,206
e e 53,909,952 66,774,679 32,687,031 3,610,703

e $ 56,460,584 $ 71,126,376 $ 32,687,696 $ 4,105,909

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Governmental

Activities -
Internal Service
Nonmajor Total Fund
$ 432,376 $ 22,271,152 $ 12,634,198
- 5,485,136 -
531 58,502 1,620,782
432,907 27,814,790 14,254,980
186,278 5,958,795 1,279,024
203,482 8,903,767 2,913,431
31,952 1,680,959 943,592
- - 8,575,008
40,310 8,231,126 86,072
462,022 24,774,647 13,797,127
(29,115) 3,040,143 457,853
- 1,016,782 -
(5,161) 589 -
- (1,312,605) (1,446)
- - 37,961
(5,161) (295,234) 36,515
(34,276) 2,744,909 494,368
- 4,619,015 -
(34,276) 7,363,924 494,368
784,990 157,767,355 3,305,633
$ 750,714 $ 165,131,279 $ 3,800,001
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Stormwater Refuse
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers. . . . . . ... ... $ 7,485,019 $ 8,250,182 $ 1,628,854 $ 4,706,462
Cash received for premiums. . . . .. ... ... .. - - - -
Cash received for capacity fees. . . . . .. ... .. 3,055,350 2,429,786 - -
Cash payments for personal services. . . . . . . ... (2,146,053) (1,786,363) (273,556) (1,428,587)
Cash payments for materials and supplies. . . . . . . (992,095) (456,973) - (217,398)
Cash payments for services and charges. . . . . . . (3,947,166) (2,543,426) - (2,163,222)
Cash payments forclaims . . . ... ... ...... - - - -
Other cash receipts or payments. . . . . . ... .. 19,773 8,881 18,839 10,478
Net cash provided by
operating activities . . . . . ... ... ... ... 3,474,828 5,902,087 1,374,137 907,733
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Cash received from grants and subsidies. . . . . . . . - - - -
Cash received from interfund loans . . . . . . .. .. 220,000 344,500 - -
Cash payments for interfund loans. . . . . . ... .. - - (344,500) -
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital
financing activities. . . . . . .. ... ... ... 220,000 344,500 (344,500) -
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Cash received from sale of capital assets. . . . . . . - - - 12,655
Cash payments for the acquisition of capital assets . (6,076,865) (2,660,526) (1,412,050) (1,159,458)
Cash received from grants and subsidies. . . . . . . .. - - 2,149 100,000
Cash payments for principal retirement . . . . . . . . (1,348,237) (2,086,197) (74,108) -
Cash payments for interest and fiscal charges . . . . . (899,219) (608,290) - -
Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities . . . . . ... ... ... ... (8,324,321) (5,355,013) (1,484,009) (1,046,803)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash received from interestearned. . . . . . ... .. 401,089 542,057 28,752 44,884
Net cash provided by investing activities. . . . . . . 401,089 542,057 28,752 44,884
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cashequivalents. . . . ... ... .. ........ (4,228,404) 1,433,631 (425,620) (94,186)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . 16,854,097 19,487,017 2,295,631 1,802,522
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year. . . . . . . $ 12,625,693 $ 20,920,648 $ 1,870,011 $ 1,708,336
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Governmental

Activities -
Internal Service
Nonmajor Total Fund

$ 419,083 $ 22,489,600 $ 3,966,005
- - 8,668,193

- 5,485,136 -
(155,444) (5,790,003) (1,200,886)
(32,495) (1,698,961) (797,012)
(191,477) (8,845,291) (2,965,817)
- - (8,541,509)

531 58,502 1,620,782

40,198 11,698,983 749,756

- - 33,961

170,000 734,500 -

- (344,500) -

170,000 390,000 33,961

- 12,655 -
(86,040) (11,394,939) (276,824)

- 102,149 -

- (3,508,542) -

- (1,507,509) -
(86,040) (16,296,186) (276,824)

- 1,016,782 -

- 1,016,782 -

124,158 (3,190,421) 506,893
362,416 40,801,683 5,023,441

$ 486,574 $ 37,611,262 $ 5,530,334
- - Continued
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CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
(SEE ACCOUNTANT'S COMPILATION REPORT)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water Wastewater Stormwater Refuse
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss). . . . . .. ... ... ..... $ 1,099,829 $ 3,041,738 $ (1,409,976) $ 337,667
Adjustments:
Depreciation. . . . . . . ... ... 2,308,557 2,692,379 2,685,782 504,098

Changes in assets, deferred inflows, liabilities and deferred outflows:

Decrease in accounts receivable. . . . . . . ... .. 10,035 112,284 73,314 36,412
(Increase) in materials and supplies inventory . . . (5,631) (15,705) - -
(Increase) decrease in prepayments. . . . . . . . ... (14,502) 2,176 - 1,469
(Increase) in due from other funds . . . . . . . .. - - - -
(Increase) decrease in net pension asset. . . . . . . . . . 27,576 23,368 4,088 20,625
Decrease innet OPEBasset. . . . . . ... ... .. .. 247,666 206,586 39,108 177,892
(Increase) in deferred outflows - pension. . . . . (611,214) (438,884) (85,063) (362,616)
(Increase) in deferred outflows - OPEB. . . . . . (135,647) (109,145) (20,951) (91,578)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable. . . . . . . .. 23,698 (224,719) (11,739) (88,372)
Increase (decrease) in contracts payable . . . . . . . .. (22,290) 211,392 - 266
Increase in retainage payable. . . . . . ... ... .. 101,494 - - -
Increase (decrease) in accrued wages and benefits. . . . (6,019) 13,293 4,415 3,025
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences payable. . (37,520) (15,425) 9,708 46,299
Increase (decrease) in due to other governments. . . . . (2,811) 1,828 1,016 713
(Decrease) in landfill postclosure costs . . . . . . . . . - - - (5,000)
Increase in customer deposits . . . . ... ... .. 741 - - -
Increase in net pension liability. . . . . . . ... ... 1,512,777 1,234,763 258,561 1,026,082
Increase in net OPEB liability. . . . . .. ... ... 47,437 38,982 7917 32,762
(Decrease) in deferred inflows - pension. . . . . . (825,828) (669,163) (139,310) (559,361)
(Decrease) in deferred inflows - OPEB. . . . . . . .. (243,520) (203,661) (42,733) (172,650)
Increase in claims payable. . . . . .. .. ... ... - - - -
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . ... $ 3,474,828 $ 5,902,087 $ 1,374,137 $ 907,733

Non-cash capital transactions:

The Water fund received water lines donated by developers with a fair value of $1,925,498. These were recorded as capital assets. The fund
purchased capital assets on account of $56,486 and $53,323 in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Wastewater fund received wastewater lines donated by developers with a fair value of $1,211,628. These were recorded as capital assets.
The fund purchased capital assets on account of $115,176 and $257,344 in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Stormwater fund received storm water lines donated by developers with a fair value of $1,379,740 and entered into a noncash financed

purchase agreement of $397,098. These were recorded as capital assets. The fund also purchased $4,912 and $233,549 in capital assets on

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Governmental

Activities -
Internal Service
Nonmajor Total Fund

$ (29,115)  $ 3,040,143 $ 457,853

40,310 8,231,126 86,072

- 232,045 -

(485) (21,821) -
26 (10,831) (44,579)

(3,102) (3,102) -

3) 75,654 18,127

11,281 682,533 157,556
(90,361) (1,588,138) (205,431)
(10,880) (368,201) (63,394)

(2,458) (303,590) 112,084

4,188 193,556 26,689

- 101,494 -

2,288 17,002 3,552

- 3,062 23,459

407 1,153 622

- (5,000) -

- 741 -

162,072 4,194,255 919,149

4,178 131,276